THE COACH HOUSE, TITCOMB MANOR, 

KINTBURY, BERKSHIRE

1.0
INTRODUCTION

1.1
West Berkshire Council (WBC) have recently granted planning and listed building consent for the conversion of a detached coach house and stable standing within the curtilage of the Grade II listed Titcomb Manor (05/00465/LBC).  A condition of the planning consent was that a programme of building recording should be undertaken before commencement of the works.  

1.2
Alterations and extensions to the house had been previously approved under a number of consents.  A recording condition was also attached to the approval of an application consolidating the earlier approvals although the works were already well advanced.  Discussion with the WBC Planning Archaeologist, Duncan Coe, resulted in the agreement that an examination of the house should be made at the time of recording the coach house, and that any features of interest visible in the house should be photographed.  

1.3
Forum Heritage Services undertook the building recording on behalf of the owners, Mr and Mrs Mitchell, to fulfil the planning condition.  Bob Edwards BSc PG Dip IHBC MIFA, principal partner of Forum Heritage Services, undertook the building recording on the 15th may 2005 and subsequently prepared this report.

2.0
AIMS & OBJECTIVES

2.1
The aim of the survey was to make a record of the coach house before alterations were made as part of the process of its conversion to ancillary domestic use.

2.2
The survey was to accord with Level 2 of the Royal Commission on the Historical Monuments of England (RCHME) Recording Historic Buildings  A Descriptive Specification 3rd Edition (1996).

2.3
An archive containing the photographs and the Phase II report were to be prepared and deposited with Reading Museum (Accession Number NEBYM.2005.41).

3.0
METHODOLOGY

3.1
Black and white photographs of the exterior and interior of the coach house, including detail shots of particular features of interest were taken.  A limited number of photos were taken within the main house where the timber-framing had been exposed.  A 35mm SLR camera, mounted on a tripod, using Ilford XP2 400 ASA black and white film was used for the photographic survey.  A register of photographs taken, together with plans of the property showing the direction of shots, forms Appendix I.   

3.2
A short report was prepared to describe the building including an assessment of its date and function and to record any features of interest.  

3.4
The building recording and report preparation was undertaken to conform to the Institute of Field Archaeologist’s (IFA) Standards and Guidance for the archaeological investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures (1996 revised 1999) and in accordance with a written specification approved by the Local Planning Authority.  A copy of the specification forms Appendix II.

4.0
LOCATION

4.1
Kintbury is a village lying between Newbury and Hungerford, approximately 5km east-south-east of the latter town.  Titcomb Manor is situated 1.25km south of Kintbury at NGR SU379657 (Figure 1).   

5.0
DESCRIPTION

5.1
Titcomb Manor is included in the List of Buildings of Special Architectural or Historic Interest at Grade II and is described thus:

Early C18 with Cl9 alterations and extensions. Rendered ground floor with tile hanging above, tiled half hipped roof. Lobby entry plan with C19 extensions to south side and at right angles to rear. 2 storeys, brick ridge chimney off centre to north, end chimney to south. Front Elevation: 5 wide three light casements with patterned leaded lights, small casement under chimney and above gabled porch with moulded decorative barge board and half glazed door between first and second windows from left. Gabled single storey extension with one casement matching those on main building to right.

5.2
The earliest references to Titcomb (Chikecumbe, Titecumbe) date from the early 13th century.  Titcomb was a manor held by sergeantry of keeping one of the kings hawks (Page and Ditchfield 1924, 209).  In the late 19th century however, the property was, somewhat less impressively, called ‘Titcoombe Cottage’ (OS 25” map 1877).

5.3
Approximately 3m to the north of the house is a small brick and weatherboarded timber-frame building of 1½ storeys with a half-hipped roof.  The building is of two bays, the southern bay having a full width opening to the coach house and the northern bay having a doorway into a stable with windows either side of the door and a loft over.  A building was in existence on the site of the stable/coach house by 1844 as depicted on the Tithe Map (BRO MF97066-E1) and it is probable that this represents the existing building.  It is also shown on the 1877 OS 25” map, although at this date a narrow extension was attached to the east side of the north gable (Figure 2).  The OS 25” map of 1899 shows the building in its current form.  This building was the main focus of the building recording and will be described first, followed by a short discussion on the manor house itself. 

5.4
The coach house and stable has a brick front wall (west) with timber-framed walls to the other three sides, the framing resting on a brick plinth.  The timber framing is clad with horizontal weatherboarding (Figures 3 and 4).  The half-hipped roof is covered with machine made plain clay tiles.   The stable retains its traditional stable door but the coach house doors are missing.

5.5
The stable in the northern bay has walls covered in vertical boarding, mainly in oak, with a fine pencil moulding.  This boarding covered horizontal boarding of lower quality (Figure 5).  At the time of the survey the stable was in use as a log store and so only part of the floor was visible.  From just inside the threshold the flooring visible consisted of a blue engineering brick.  

5.6
There is a loft over the stable but the modern floor is at a higher level than the original loft floor.  A transverse beam that had once supported the floor joists of the loft survives in-situ.  Access to the loft was from a doorway in the dividing wall between the stable and the coach house.  This door would have been approached via a ladder – there being insufficient space for a staircase.

5.7
Within the loft there is a small casement window in the north gable with an iron- framed 6-pane opening light and a fixed 9-pane light set in a timber frame.  The rafters over the loft were covered with horizontal boarding, some of which survives.  Within the roof to the front, west, elevation there is a gabled dormer with modern plywood doors and three pigeon holes with landing platforms in the gable.  All the roof timbers associated with this structure are modern and according to the owner of the property, this ‘dovecote’ was added to the building in the late 20th century (Mr Mitchell, pers. comm.).

5.8
Along the rear (east) wall of the stable are two cast iron feeding and water troughs indicating that the stable could accommodate two horses (Figure 6).  No evidence for a stall partition was seen.

5.9
The coach house element of the building has horizontal boarding to the walls with lath and plaster above eaves height.   This part of the building was not lofted.  Within the north-east corner of the coach house is an iron hay rack indicating that this part of the building has probably been used as a stable also.

5.10  
The main house, Titcomb Manor, is listed as being of 18th century date.  Although there little fabric was exposed at the time of the visit, the roof trusses, with raking struts supporting the purlins with no collar are probably of 18th century date. However, internally some areas of earlier timber-frame have been exposed in the former rear (east) wall at both ground floor and first floor levels (Figures 7 and 8).  The presence of void mortices in the timbers suggests that they have been re-used. 

7.0
CONCLUSION

7.1
The building to the north of Titcomb Manor is a small 19th century stable and coach house of a kind that must have been common-place at any property belonging to a well-off farmer or minor gentry at that date.  Map evidence suggests that the building dates from before 1844.  The re-cladding of the stable with better quality oak boarding suggests that in the late 19th or early 20th century the stable was modestly improved.      

7.2
The manor house is mainly of 18th and 19th century date but it is unlikely that the timber framing in the rear wall dates from the 18th century.  At this date timber was rarely used in domestic contexts – and where it was it was usually as small section timber lacing the brickwork.  Here the timbers are large and the joints are mainly pegged.  It is more probable that the timber framing is a remnant of an earlier building of 17th century or earlier date although it is not possible at this stage to be more definitive.  The position of the front door, set off centre on the front elevation with a lobby entry created by a large stack may suggest that there was a hall house on this site that had a stack inserted in the cross passage creating the lobby entry.  Despite extensive re-building it is possible that the plan of the earlier house is still evident in the building today – and the timber framing may represent a fragment of that late medieval house.

8.0
ARCHIVE

8.1
The photographic archive created by the recording of the properties is to deposited with Newbury Museum. The archive consists of black and white photographs and negatives, a compact disc with a digital copy of the photographs and a copy of this report.  The Accession Number for the archive is NEBYM.2005.41.

8.2
A copy of this report will be lodged with the West Berkshire Sites and Monuments Record, Newbury Museum, Newbury.
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Figures 3 and 4


Stable and coach house at Titcombe Manor


Front and rear elevations





Figure 5


Vertical oak boarding over horizontal softwood boarding in the stable





Figures 7 and 8


Exposed timber framing in the rear wall of Titcombe Manor.


Above: ground floor


Left: Framing along hallway on the first floor
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Figure 1  The location of Titcombe Manor near Kintbury, Berkshire 
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Figure 6


Iron feed trough in stable
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Figure 2  Titcombe Manor 1877


Ordnance Survey 1st Edition 25” map





Stable and coach house
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